A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Leibsohn Property Advisors, Inc. ("Leibsohn"), appellant below, 

seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in part B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued Leibsohn Property Advisors Incorp. 

v. Colliers Inter. Realty Advisors, COA 69445-6-1, on October 28, 2013. 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Did the Court of Appeals contradict In re Estate ofTyle/, 

by affirming dismissal of Leibsohn' s tortious interference claim due to a 

contractual provision caused by Respondents' wrongful conduct? 

2. Did the Court of Appeals contradict David Meyers v. 

Anderson3 by affirming dismissal of Leibsohn's tortious interference 

claim in reliance on the form of a real estate transaction instead of its 

substance? 

3. Did the trial court correctly conclude that Colliers and 

Vander Veen's misrepresentations justified applying judicial estoppel 

and comprised "undue means" warranting vacation ofthe award? 

1 Appendix A. 
2 140 Wash. 679,684-85,250 P. 456 (1926). 
3 48 Wn. App. 381, 739 P.2d I 02 ( 1987). 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. SeaTac purchases the property through a sham deed 
in lieu of foreclosure. 

Leibsohn and K&S Developments, Inc. signed an Exclusive Sale 

Listing Agreement ("ESLA") in 2006 for the sale of K&S's commercial 

property in SeaTac.4 The ESLA provided that Leibsohn would receive a 

4% commission if he located a buyer. 5 K&S extended the ESLA on the 

same material terms in 2007 and 2008.6 Respondents Colliers 

International Realty Advisors (USA), Inc. and the City of SeaTac 

regularly contacted Leibsohn while the ESLA was in effect, and he 

provided them marketing information and answered questions.7 

SeaTac decided to buy the property and told Colliers to determine 

what a "fair (and smart) offer might be for someone to purchase the 

properties."8 SeaTac described the property's prospects: "The property 

is needed to construct public roads, open space, and infrastructure ... This 

is a fantastic opportunity ... to purchase a critical piece ofproperty."9 

SeaTac wished to purchase the property for less than the total 

amount of debt against it. 10 Instead of presenting a short sale 11 offer to 

4 Clerk's Papers (CP) 1393, ~ 2. 
5 CP 1393, ~ 2-3; CP 638-39. 
6 CP 1393, ~ 3. 
7 CP 1334; 1394, ~ 7; 1404-12; 1418; 1423; 1429; 1447-50. 
8 CP 1070-71. 
9 CP 1067-68. SeealsoCP 1102-03. 
1° CP 1067-68, 1076. 

-2-



Leibsohn, SeaTac had Colliers' agent, Arvin VanderVeen, communicate 

with Scott Switzer (the "S" in K&S) and Thomas Hazelrigg III 

(Switzer's business partner and "the king pin" between the lenders). 12 

The original proposed transaction had the three prongs of a short sale-

willing buyer and seller, and lenders' agreement to reduced payoffs: 

If the [City Manager] tells me he is sure that the city will 
buy it at the right price I can then go to Hazelrigg and he 
can use his mussel [sic] to convince everyone to just sell 
it and to negotiate some reduced payoffs[.] 13 

The transaction Colliers described in this email would have resulted in 

both a commission to Leibsohn and excise tax. Instead, Respondents 

concocted a plan to achieve the exact same result-free and clear title to 

SeaTac-without paying excise tax or Leibsohn's commission by 

characterizing the short sale as a "deed in lieu of foreclosure." 

Respondents compiled 414 pages of legal documents that labeled 

the transaction a deed in lieu of foreclosure, but effectively accomplished 

a short sale of the property to SeaTac. 14 Structuring the transaction as a 

"deed in lieu of foreclosure" had two goals: (1) avoiding excise tax 15 and 

(2) in Colliers' counsel's words, avoiding Leibsohn's commission: 

11 A "'short sale," is a purchase of the property for less than the total amount of the debt 
against it. See WASHINGTON DEPARTMENT OF LICENSING & WASHINGTON 

DEPARTMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS, SHORT SALE SELLER ADVISORY (2010), 
available at http://www.dfi.wa.gov/consumers/pdf/short-sale-advisory.pdf. 
12 CP 1088, 1121, 1109. 
13 CP I 070 (emphasis added). 
14 CP 652-1065. 
15 CP II 00 (emphasis added). 
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The City should not object to my changes. They are 
designed to make it tougher for Liebson [sic] to make a 
claim for a share of the $300k fee as a co-broker ... The 
more distance we can put between SeaTac's purchase of 
the chattel paper and the deed in lieu the better. 16 

. 

2. Respondents interfere with the ESLA. 

While Respondents were concocting their "deed m lieu of 

foreclosure" scheme, Leibsohn and K&S were discussing the extension 

of the ESLA, 17 which was set to expire on November 1, 2009. 18 On 

October I, 2009, Scott Switzer, one of the principals of K&S, emailed 

Leibsohn that he thought he could now sign the ESLA extension. 19 

Unfortunately for Leibsohn, Respondents contacted Switzer right 

after he emailed Leibsohn and offered to purchase the property as part of 

the sham "deed in lieu of foreclosure."20 Leibsohn's real estate practices 

expert offered undisputed testimony that Vander Veen' s direct contact 

with the property owner violated commercial brokerage rules and 

customs? 1 This contact induced K&S to propose an exception to the 

ESLA extension for a deed in lieu offoreclosure.22 

Leibsohn continued to market the propertl3 and ultimately 

16 CP 1094 (emphasis added). 
17 CP 1394, ~ 8. 
18 CP 1104-07. 
19 CP 1438. 
2° CP I 086-88. 
21 CP 1349-52. 
22 CP 1441-1443. 
23 CP 1447-49. 
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executed the extension. Leibsohn believed that a third-party buyer such 

as SeaTac (in contrast with a legitimate lender) could not complete a 

deed in lieu of foreclosure and repeatedly told his clients this?4 Despite 

Leibsohn' s objections, on December 31, 2009, Respondents closed their 

"deed in lieu of foreclosure" transaction.25 SeaTac paid $12,270,000 in 

exchange for free and clear title to K&S's property. 26 

The proceeds from the $12,270,000 that SeaTac paid into escrow 

were distributed as follows: (1) $7.15 million to lender Avatar, (2) $4 

million to lend~r Centrum, (3) $100,000 each to lenders Dan Kirby and 

Velocity, (4) $26,021.71 to satisfy a mechanic's lien, (5) $562,623.58 to 

King County for property taxes, ( 6) $10,000 for utilities, and (7) 

$275,000 to Colliers, VanderVeen and Hazelrigg.27 Leibsohn received 

nothing, and no real estate excise taxes were paid. The substance of the 

transaction was no different than a short sale. Subsequently, the 

Washington Department of Revenue audited the transaction and 

concluded that it was a sale, not a deed in lieu of foreclosure. 28 

24 CP 1394-95. 
25 CP I 055. 
26 !d.; CP 990-93. 
27 CP I 055. 
28 CP 1125-26, 1540-42. 
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3. The Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA") rejects 
Leibsohn's dispute as not arbitrable. 

In October 2009, after learning that Respondents proposed a 

transaction intended to circumvent him, Leibsohn filed a complaint with 

the CBA, which requires arbitration for disputes among members.29 A 

CBA Vice President responded that the CBA had no authority to 

arbitrate the dispute because: (1) Leibsohn's ESLA struck the standard 

jurisdictional language about the CBA, and (2) the CBA had no authority 

to control Respondents' contact with lenders, as distinguished from 

property owners. 30 Vander Veen was Treasurer of the CBA and on its 

Board of Directors at the time the CBA made this statement. 31 The CBA 

referred all further inquiries to its attorney, Chris Osborn.32 

Osborn was not a stranger to this matter, as he was representing 

Respondents in devising the scheme and drafting the documents to avoid 

Leibsohn's . . 33 commiSSion. Osborn confirmed that Respondents' 

interference with Leibsohn's ESLA would never be arbitrable: 

CBA's arbitration process IS available only for 
commission disputes between members, and then only 
after a closing has occurred; neither circumstance exists 

29 CP 24; see also CP 11-12 (Colliers' and VanderVeen's motion to compel arbitration, 
filed by Osborn, referencing this same language). 
3°CP61. 
31 CP 65. 
32 !d. 
33 CP 110, ~ 17; CP 158- 187. 
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here ... CBA has no authority whatsoever to interject itself 
into your dispute with Colliers and Mr. Vander V een. 34 

Leibsohn accepted the CBA's rejection of his claim and concluded that 

his only recourse was a lawsuit in superior court.35 

4. Colliers and VanderVeen move to compel arbitration, 
contradicting earlier positions. 

After telling Leibsohn that his claim was not arbitrable, Osborn 

appeared on behalf of Colliers and Vander Veen in the lawsuit and 

changed course by filing a motion to compel arbitration. 36 In his motion, 

Osborn argued extensively that Leibsohn's complaint did, in fact, 

involve a commission, directly contradicting his earlier representation.37 

Leibsohn opposed the motion, arguing Colliers and Vander Veen 

should be estopped from moving to compel arbitration given that their 

counsel and the CBA told him the dispute was not arbitrable.38 In reply, 

Colliers and VanderVeen promised Leibsohn's case would be heard: 

If [Leibsohn's] claim is not arbitrable, Defendants 
concede it is cognizable before this Court .. .If [Leibsohn] 
demands arbitration in accordance with the CBA 
Arbitration Rules and CBA concludes that the matter is 
not arbitrable, Defendants will not object to a lift of the 
stay so that the matter can proceed in this Court. 39 

34 CP 66-67. 
35 CP 97-98, ~ 7. 
36 CP7-13. 
37 CP 9-12. 
38 CP 47-48. 
39 CP 68. 
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The trial court granted the motion to compel arbitration, 

cautioning m its order: "Given the prior e-mail exchanges and 

representations by CBA, if CBA concludes that the matter is not 

arbitrable, the Ct. may consider imposing terms against Defendants."40 

5. After the CBA dismisses Leibsohn's claim as time
barred, the trial court retakes jurisdiction. 

In arbitration, Colliers and Vander V een moved to dismiss the 

claim as time-barred by the CBA's three-month statute of limitations.41 

The CBA agreed, issuing a "Pre-Arbitration Hearing Decision" stating it 

could not hear Leibsohn's claim because it had not been filed with the 

CBA three months after the transaction closed (which was six months 

before Colliers and VanderVeen moved to compel arbitration).42 

Leibsohn moved to lift the stay, re-issue a case schedule, and 

sanction Colliers and Vander Veen for misrepresenting that the dispute 

was arbitrable.43 The court granted Leibsohn's motion: 

[T]he CBA made multiple explicit representations to 
Leibsohn that his complaint was not arbitrable and, in 
reliance on such representations, Leibsohn did not pursue 
arbitration with the CBA within the three month window. 
Following Leibsohn's complaint filed with this court, the 
Defendants, on two separate occasions, explicitly 
represented to this court that the matter was arbitrable, 
and assured the court that if the matter was not 

4° CP 81-82. 
41 CP 310-16. 
42 CP 343-46. 
43 CP 240-49. 
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arbitrable, then the Defendants would not object to a 
motion to lift the stay and re-issue a case schedule. The 
court finds that in this case and under these facts, the 
CBA's subsequent summary dismissal without reaching 
the merits by way of the "pre-arbitration hearing" did not 
constitute an arbitration as expected by Plaintiffs and 
argued by Defendants and therefore, Defendants are 
estopped from objecting to Plaintiffs Motion to Lift the 
Stay and Re-Issue Case Schedule.44 

The court imposed sanctions against Colliers and Vander Veen.45 

6. The trial court modifies its order to explicitly vacate 
the award, and the Court of Appeals reverses. 

After significant discovery and motions in the trial court, Colliers 

and Vander Veen moved to confirm the pre-arbitration award.46 They 

argued that because Leibsohn had not filed a motion to vacate within 90 

days ofthe award, the court was bound to confirm it.47 

The trial court denied the motion and revised its earlier order to 

explicitly vacate the pre-arbitration award under RCW 7.04A.230(l)(a), 

which allows vacation of an arbitral award procured by corruption, fraud, 

or undue means, and CR 60(b )(11 ), which allows a court to grant relief 

from an order on just terms.48 The court noted that while Leibsohn did 

not expressly move to vacate, the issue was before the court.49 

44 CP 354-55 (emphasis added). 
45 CP 355. 
46 CP 1472-76. 
47 CP 1475. 
48 CP 81-82. 
49 !d. 
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The Court of Appeals reversed, remanding with instructions to 

confirm the pre-arbitration award and vacate the sanctions. The Court of 

Appeals determined that Colliers and Vander Veen had not made any 

misrepresentations, and that the circumstances did not justify vacating 

the award or sanctioning Colliers and VanderVeen. 

7. The trial court dismisses Leibsohn's tortious 
interference claim, and the Court of Appeals affirms. 

Around the same time that Respondents moved to confirm the 

pre-arbitration award, they moved for summary judgment dismissing 

Leibsohn's tortious interference and Consumer Protection Act claims,50 

and Leibsohn cross-moved for partial summary judgment and a 

declaration that the transaction was a sale. 51 The trial court granted 

Respondents' motion and denied Leibsohn's, determining the transaction 

was a deed in lieu of foreclosure. 52 The Court of Appeals affirmed. 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

The Court of Appeals' decision warrants review because it 

conflicts with this Court's precedent and presents an issue of substantial 

public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2), and (4). 

5° CP 400-21, 1127-40. 
51 

CP 582-99. 
52 

CP 1655-57, 1660-64. 

-10-



1. The Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with binding 
authority and eviscerates plaintiffs' rights in tortious 
interference cases. 

An injustice was done when the Court of Appeals allowed 

Respondents to escape liability for tortious interference by relying on 

their own wrongdoing and illusory documents. This case presents the 

Court with an opportunity to right this injustice and reaffirm the 

protections afforded by tortious interference law. 

(a) The Court of Appeals contradicted David Meyers by 
affirming the summary judgment and allowing the 
Respondents to mischaracterize the transaction. 

The Court of Appeals' decision directly conflicts with David 

Meyers, 53 another tortious interference case where a real estate broker 

conspired with the property owner to avoid the listing broker's 

commission. In David Meyers, the conspmng broker crafted a 

promissory note to disguise the true nature of the transaction, a 

commissionable sale. The court rejected the note because it lacked 

substance and was designed to avoid the listing broker's commission, 

explaining how each element of tortious interference was met: 

53 

Although the owners and lessee vigorously argue that 
they were legally entitled to bypass the brokers, they were 
not. Construing all reasonable inferences from the 
foregoing facts in favor of the brokers, as we must in this 
summary judgment case, a trier of the fact could conclude 
as follows: [ 1] that there was a valid contract between the 

48 Wn. App. 38 I. 

-11-



property owners and the brokers whereby the owners 
would owe the brokers a $30,000 commission if they 
found an acceptable buyer; [2] that the lessee knew of this 
contract; [3] that the lessee intentionally induced the 
owners to breach the contract in order to save $30,000 on 
the price of the property; [4] that illusory promissory 
notes were given, a misleading closing statement 
prepared and incorrect real estate excise taxes calculated, 
all for the purpose of concealing the true facts from the 
brokers and Fleming as to the actual purchase price paid 
by the lessee; and [5] that the brokers were damaged 
thereby. Thus, the brokers have also made out a legally 
sufficient case of tortious third party interference with a 
contractual relationship ... the trial court's granting of the 
defense motions for summary judgment cannot be 
sustained. 54 

Here, the trial court's decision on summary judgment closely 

mirrors the error the court made in David Meyers: (1) Leibsohn had a 

valid ESLA, (2) Respondents knew about the ESLA, (3) Respondents 

contacted K&S, in violation of real estate industry rules, and induced it 

to modify the ESLA and convey the property by a sham deed in lieu of 

foreclosure, ( 4) Respondents drafted illusory deed in lieu of foreclosure 

documents to disguise the true nature of the transaction, which was a 

short sale, and (5) Leibsohn was damaged by the loss of his commission. 

The result from David Meyers was an affirmation of substance 

over form; a party cannot avoid liability for tortious interference by 

creatively drafting documents that lack legal substance and 

mischaracterize the interfering actions as legal and justifiable. Here, the 

54 !d. at 388. 
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substance of this transactiop was unequivocally a sale; SeaTac paid 

$12,270,000 in exchange for fee simple title to K&S's real property. 

The Court of Appeals tjrred by dismissing Leibsohn's tortious 

interference claim on the ba$is that Respondents could re-characterize a 
I 

sale of real property using ill~sory legal documents. 

(b) The Court of Appeals contradicted In re Estate of 
Tyler and public policy when it allowed the 
Respondents to benefit from their own wrongdoing. 

In re Estate ofTyler stated a fundamental legal maxim: 

No one shall be perq1itted to profit by his own fraud, or 
take advantage of hi$ own wrong, or to found any claim 
upon his own iniquity, or to acquire property by his own 
crime. These maxim!s are dictated by public policy, have 
their foundation in I universal law administered in all 
civilized countries, amd have nowhere been superseded by 
statutes. 55 

This maxim is the legal building block from which this state's tortious 

interference laws were created: 

[Tortious interference] draws a line beyond which no 
member of the co~munity may go in interrupting 
contractual negotiations or otherwise intentionally 
intermeddling with t~e business affairs of others ... This of 
course involves socliety 's interest in affording to the 
individual a fair opportunity to conduct his legitimate 
business affairs withqut interruption from others except in 
so far as such interfe*ences are sanctioned by the 'rules of 
the game' which society has adopted. 56 

55
140 Wash. at 684-85. 

56 Scymanski v. Dufault, 80 Wn.2d 77, 84, 491 P.2d 1050 (1971 ). 
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Tortious interference precludes a party from benefiting from its wrongful 

interference with another's business affairs. 

This maxim was contradicted by the Court of Appeals when it 

allowed the Respondents to benefit from their interference with 

Leibsohn's ESLA. The evidence establishes: (I) Respondents contacted 

Leibsohn' s client to propose the deed in lieu of foreclosure scheme while 

the 2008 ESLA was effective, (2) Respondents' contact was wrongful 

because it violated commercial real estate industry customs and rules, 

and, (3) as a direct result of Respondents' contact, Leibsohn's client 

drafted an exclusion to the 2009 ESLA. There is a clear and direct causal 

link between Respondents' wrongful contact and the exclusion they now 

rely on to escape liability. The Respondents interfered so well that they 

caused K&S to amend the ESLA and were allowed by the Court of 

Appeals to reap the benefits of their wrongful acts. 

(c) Allowing mischaracterization of real property sales as 
deeds in lieu of foreclosure creates an issue of 
substantial public interest. 

By sanctioning Respondents' conduct, the Court of Appeals has 

drawn a roadmap for avoiding a listing broker's commission on the sale 

of real property. The process and form laid out by the Respondents 

could be used to depict any short sale as a deed in lieu of foreclosure, 

thereby avoiding exclusive listing agreements. This would have 

-14-



substantial impact on both the commercial and residential real estate 

industries, especially during down real estate markets, when property 

values decrease below the loan amounts.

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