RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Dec 27, 2013, 10:59 am
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Supreme Court No. 89612-7

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

LEIBSOHN PROPERTY ADVISORS INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, dba LINC PROPERTIES,

Petitioner,

V.

COLLIERS INTERNATIONAL REALTY ADVISORS (USA), INC., a California corporation, and ARVIN VANDER VEEN and JANE DOE VANDER VEEN, and their marital community,

Respondents.

and

LEIBSOHN PROPERTY ADVISORS INCORPORATED, a Washington corporation, dba LINC PROPERTIES,

Petitioner,

٧.

CITY OF SEATAC, a municipal corporation, Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

### I. INTRODUCTION

In a lengthy, detailed and well-reasoned opinion, the Court of Appeals concluded that appellant Leibsohn Property Advisors

Incorporated's ("Leibsohn") claims against Colliers were subject to dismissal by the trial court for two independent reasons: (i) the claims were subject to arbitration and the arbitration award should have been confirmed; and (ii) the claims failed on the merits as a matter of undisputed fact and law. Both rulings are firmly grounded in longstanding, uncontroversial Washington authority. Neither warrants review by this Court.

Leibsohn was a licensed real estate broker and a member of the Commercial Brokers Association ("CBA"). Under the CBA Bylaws, its claims against Colliers and Vander Veen (collectively "Colliers") were subject to binding arbitration. When Leibsohn instead sued in Superior Court, Colliers successfully moved to compel arbitration. In arbitration, and following briefing and oral argument, Leibsohn's claims were deemed time-barred and dismissed. Leibsohn returned to Superior Court and moved to lift the stay based on arguments considered and rejected by the arbitration panel. The trial court granted Leibsohn's motion, reasoning that Colliers' prior statement that the case was arbitrable was a

misrepresentation because the CBA did not conduct a hearing on the merits but instead dismissed the claims as time-barred.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court. The Court of Appeals, applying well-established Washington authority, held that under RCW 7.04A, the trial court determined whether a claim is arbitrable, while the issue of whether that claim is time-barred is the province of the arbitrator. With no evidence that the arbitration panel arrived at its conclusion by fraud or undue means, there was no basis for vacating the arbitration. The Court of Appeals also correctly concluded that there was nothing untoward in arguing that a claim is substantively arbitrable to the trial court and then arguing that the claim is time-barred before the arbitration panel. Those two statements are not inconsistent, and therefore the trial court erred in applying judicial estoppel.

Second, both lower courts concluded that Leibsohn's tortious interference claim failed as a matter of law. Of the four elements of the claim, the Court of Appeals concluded that Leibsohn could not prove three as a matter of law. Leibsohn does not dispute that the Court of Appeals applied the proper standard for tortious interference claims, nor are the facts disputed. Leibsohn is simply dissatisfied with the result. That does not justify review.

### II. COUNTER-STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Court of Appeals devoted nearly 20 pages to a comprehensive retelling of the facts—both the events giving rise to the litigation and the procedural history before the trial court. This counter-statement of facts provides an abridged version sufficient to provide support for the Court of Appeals' decision.

### A. Facts Relating to SeaTac's Acquisition of the Property.

1. The Property Goes into Foreclosure After Years of Failed Efforts by Leibsohn to Market and Sell the Property.

This lawsuit involves commercial real estate formerly owned by K & S Developments located in SeaTac ("the Property"). Leibsohn first listed the Property in 2006. In November 2008, with the real estate market sinking and no offers, Leibsohn reduced the price from \$28 million to \$24.5 million. SeaTac had retained Colliers to assess potential real estate acquisitions in the vicinity of the Property in connection with its long-term transportation corridor plans. But because the Property was still listed at far in excess of what SeaTac viewed as its value, the City chose not to pursue the Property at that time.

Meanwhile, over the years, K & S had pledged the Property as security for multiple loans. In January 2005, before listing with Leibsohn,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> CP 1154.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> CP 1160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>Id.</u> ¶ 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> <u>Id.</u> ¶ 5.

K & S provided a deed of trust to secure a \$6,500,000 promissory note.<sup>5</sup> By 2009, K & S had granted four deeds of trust securing four loans totaling over \$12 million.<sup>6</sup> All four loans included personal guarantees from the two K & S principals, Gerry Kingen and Scott Switzer,

By spring of 2009, K & S was in default on all of the loans. One of the lenders, who was owed over \$6,000,000, filed a judicial foreclosure action. The relief sought included a foreclosure sale of the Property and deficiency judgments against Switzer and Kingen personally based on their guarantees.8

Colliers Negotiates on Behalf of SeaTac to Purchase the 2. Notes and Obtain Deeds in Lieu of Foreclosure.

In late June 2009, SeaTac and Colliers met to discuss the foreclosure and the Property. Leibsohn was still marketing the Property at nearly \$21,000,000, 10 far beyond what they (or anyone) deemed a reasonable price. Accordingly, it was agreed that Colliers would instead determine whether the various K & S creditors were willing to sell their loans. 11 If SeaTac could purchase the loans, it could potentially obtain a deed in lieu of foreclosure ("DIL") from K & S.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> CP 1172.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> <u>See</u> summary at CP 402. <sup>7</sup> CP 1216-28.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> CP 1160 ¶ 6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> CP 1161 ¶ 7.

Colliers began negotiating with the lenders. By the end of September, the first position lender agreed to sell its loan for \$7,125,000, the second for \$4,000,000, and the third and fourth lenders agreed to release their security interests on the Property for \$100,000 each. A few days later, K & S' Switzer confirmed that K & S would provide a DIL in exchange for releases of Kingen's and Switzer's guarantees. By the end of SeaTac to purchase the debt and obtain the Property via a DIL.

Leibsohn criticizes Colliers for communicating with the lenders, as opposed to presenting an offer to purchase through Leibsohn. Leibsohn ignores that a judicial foreclosure had been filed and the lenders effectively controlled the Property. More fundamentally, Leibsohn represented the borrower—K & S—not the lenders, and had no authority to act on behalf of the lenders.

3. Leibsohn Signs an Amended Listing Agreement That Carves out the Colliers/SeaTac DIL Transaction.

Meanwhile, Leibsohn's listing agreement was set to expire on November 1, 2009. In mid-August, Leibsohn sent K & S a proposed new listing agreement that, like its predecessors, provided for a

<sup>13</sup> <u>Id.</u> ¶ 9.

15 CP 1241

<sup>12 &</sup>lt;u>Id.</u> ¶ 8.

Leibsohn's Pet. for Review at 2-4, 14-15.

commission if the Property was sold, made unmarketable by the owner, or withdrawn from sale. <sup>16</sup> With the Property already in a judicial foreclosure, K & S did not sign the proposed agreement as drafted.

Instead, on October 2, 2009, K & S offered to extend Leibsohn's listing agreement, but with a clause excluding the DIL transaction as a commissionable event:

No commission will be due in the event that the owners sign a deed in lieu of foreclosure. The potential transaction in which a third party may ask the owners to give up the property in exchange for removal of personal guarantees is specifically excluded as part of this sales/fee agreement.<sup>17</sup>

In an email to Brian Leibsohn, K & S' Switzer explained that the exclusion was specifically intended to address the deed in lieu transaction that was being negotiated between the lenders and Colliers. <sup>18</sup> Leibsohn ultimately signed the new agreement with the exclusion. <sup>19</sup>

4. SeaTac Acquires the Property Via Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure.

Despite Leibsohn's objections, SeaTac purchased the debt and obtained title to the Property via a DIL transaction that closed in the last

<sup>17</sup> CP 1253.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> CP 1247.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> CP 1251. ("I wrote in a fee exclusion for the proposed deed in lieu of transaction proposed through Tom Hazelrigg and Arvin Vander Veen.... Short of a sale by you, we will either lose the property to our lenders or lose it to our new note holders in exchange for the deed.... We will not pay a fee [to] give up our property to our lenders, no matter who they may be.").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> CP 1151:21-1152:11

week of December 2009.<sup>20</sup> In total, SeaTac paid \$12,283,987 for the transaction.<sup>21</sup>

### B. Facts Relating to the Leibsohn-Colliers Arbitration.

1. The CBA Bylaws and Leibsohn's Original Submission to the CBA.

All CBA members, including Leibsohn, are required to submit all controversies involving commissions to binding arbitration before the CBA.<sup>22</sup> Under the CBA's rules, a dispute involving a commission is not arbitrable until the transaction generating the commission has closed.<sup>23</sup> Any demand for arbitration must be filed within 90 days after closing.<sup>24</sup>

On October 13, 2009, before the transaction at issue closed,
Leibsohn sent a letter to the CBA claiming that Colliers had violated a rule
barring interference with its exclusive listing agreement. Leibsohn asked
the CBA to "[issue] some type of cease and desist notice to Colliers."

There was no dispute about a commission at that time as the DIL
transaction was still months away from closing. Even though Leibsohn
had not requested arbitration, the CBA initially (albeit correctly)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP 530.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> CP 530.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP 24 ¶ X(A).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 75 ¶ 6

<sup>24</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP 341-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP 342.

responded that the matter could not be arbitrated. The CBA said it would take no action.<sup>27</sup>

2. Leibsohn Waits Eight Months to Sue, and Colliers Obtains an Order Compelling Arbitration and Staying the Lawsuit.

Post-closing, Leibsohn did nothing until eight months later—August 2010—when it sued Colliers in King County Superior Court.

Leibsohn's suit alleged that Colliers had tortiously interfered with

Leibsohn's listing with K & S, resulting in a lost commission. Colliers moved to stay the case and compel arbitration as required by the CBA's Bylaws. That motion was granted in September 2010, and Leibsohn was ordered to arbitration in accordance with the bylaws of the Commercial Brokers Association.

In response, Leibsohn made a CBA submission on the standard CBA's Arbitration Complaint form.<sup>31</sup> Leibsohn did not, however, pay the filing fee, and did not comply with the substantive requirements of the CBA's arbitration rules.<sup>32</sup> Rather than request arbitration, Leibsohn's submission claimed that the dispute was not arbitrable.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> CP 1-6.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP 7-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP 81-82.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> CP 199-200.

<sup>32</sup> CP 197 ¶ 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> CP 200.

The CBA rejected Leibsohn's argument that the matter was not arbitrable,<sup>34</sup> and ruled that the dispute was subject to arbitration under the CBA's Bylaws.<sup>35</sup> It invited Leibsohn to file an amended arbitration complaint in compliance with the rules.<sup>36</sup> Although Leibsohn wrote a letter in response,<sup>37</sup> the complaint was not amended.

In November 2010, the CBA again invited Leibsohn to file an amended arbitration complaint.<sup>38</sup> Leibsohn declined to amend its filing, stating that the CBA was "confused," and Leibsohn would be "relying on the record."<sup>39</sup>

Nothing further happened until March 2011 when Leibsohn moved in Superior Court to lift the stay. Pointing to the CBA's two requests that Leibsohn comply with the rules regarding arbitration complaints, Leibsohn said that the CBA was imposing unnecessary obstructions to the arbitration. Leibsohn's motion was denied. The Court also made a finding that Leibsohn was "willfully impeding the [arbitration] process" and imposed sanctions of \$2,500.

34 CP 209-10.

<sup>35</sup> CP 197 ¶ 5; CP 209.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> CP 209; CP 197 ¶ 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> CP 208.

<sup>38</sup> CP 211-13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> CP 214.

<sup>40</sup> CD 83-05

<sup>41</sup> CP 88-89

<sup>42</sup> CP 237-38

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> CP 238.

Leibsohn then amended its arbitration complaint and the arbitration process began. 44 Colliers moved to dismiss Leibsohn's claim as timebarred. 45 Colliers argued that under the CBA's Bylaws, the complaint had to be made within three months after the closing of the transaction, but Leibsohn did nothing until eight months after the transaction closed. 46 Even then, Leibsohn sued instead of pursuing the required arbitration.

After briefing and oral argument before the CBA, Leibsohn's arbitration complaint was dismissed as time-barred.<sup>47</sup>

3. After Colliers Prevails in Arbitration, the Trial Court Lifts the Stay and Awards Sanctions and Fees to Leibsohn.

After losing in arbitration, Leibsohn again moved in Superior Court to lift the stay and for issuance of a new case schedule.<sup>48</sup> Leibsohn claimed that Colliers should be estopped from opposing the motion based on earlier statements regarding arbitrability.<sup>49</sup> (Leibsohn had unsuccessfully made the same estoppel argument in the arbitration.)<sup>50</sup>

The Superior Court granted Leibsohn's motion.<sup>51</sup> Relying first on the statements made by the CBA (not Colliers) in connection with Leibsohn's pre-closing request for discipline, the Court said that "the CBA

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> CP 324.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> CP 310-16.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> CP 312.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> CP 343-46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> CP 240-49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> CP 247.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> CP 333.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> CP 353-56.

made multiple explicit representations to Leibsohn that his complaint was not arbitrable and, in reliance on such representations, Leibsohn did not pursue arbitration with the CBA within the three-month window." The trial court did not acknowledge that: (i) the CBA's statements were made in response to Leibsohn's request for disciplinary action, which was before the transaction closed, i.e., before an arbitrable claim existed; and (ii) the CBA told Leibsohn that the arbitration clause of the Bylaws applied if there was a post-closing commission dispute. 53

The trial court next noted that in moving to compel arbitration,

Colliers represented that if the matter was ultimately deemed not arbitrable

by the CBA, Colliers would not object to a motion to lift the stay. <sup>54</sup> In

finding this to be a misrepresentation, it did not acknowledge that the

CBA had (i) concluded the matter was arbitrable, and (ii) taken

jurisdiction over the claim. <sup>55</sup>

4. The Court of Appeals Reverses and Remands to the Trial Court to Confirm the Arbitration Award.

The Court of Appeals reversed, holding that the trial court lacked authority to vacate the arbitration decision because Colliers (i) made no misrepresentation in telling the court Leibsohn's claim was arbitrable, and

54 CP 355-2-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> CP 354-55.

<sup>53</sup> CP 66

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> CP 197 ¶ 5; CP 209.

(ii) even if it did, such statements were not material because the trial court was required to compel arbitration regardless of any statute of limitations issue.56

First, Colliers accurately represented that Leibsohn's claim was substantively arbitrable under the CBA's Bylaws.<sup>57</sup> Thus, the court was required to compel arbitration and let the arbitrator resolve the timing issue.<sup>58</sup> Second, the arbitration panel was entitled to decide the time-bar issue "independent of how the trial court arrived at its decision to compel arbitration."<sup>59</sup> Because Leibsohn made its objections to the arbitration panel regarding the statute of limitations issues, and because Leibsohn did not argue (or offer any evidence) that the arbitration panel was biased, unfair, or otherwise arrived at its conclusion by undue means, there was no basis for vacating the arbitration panel's award of dismissal.<sup>60</sup>

#### III. **ARGUMENT**

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